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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 

 Appellant, New Union Wildlife Federation, filed a complaint in the United States District 

Court for the District of New Union seeking review under Clean Water Act (CWA) § 505, 33 

U.S.C. § 1365 (2006) and under CWA §§ 301(a) and 404, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a) and 1344 

(2006).  

 On June 1, 2012, the district court granted Jim Bob Bowman’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment and denied New Union Wildlife Federation’s Motion for Summary Judgment on all 

issues.  The district court’s Order is final, and jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1291 (2006).  

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 

I. New Union Wildlife Federation has standing to bring suit against Bowman beneath 

both the Clean Water Act’s citizen suit provision of section 505 and the 

Organizational Standing Exception.  

II. Jim Bowman violated Clean Water Act sections 301(a) and 404 when he deposited 

dredge and fill material into a wetland, converting the wetland into a wheat field.  

III. The continued presence of dredged and fill material in the wetland is an ongoing and 

continuous violation of the Clean Water Act’s Recapture Clause; therefore, 

Bowman’s violations of the Clean Water Act are continuous and ongoing. 

IV. New Union Department of Environmental Protection has failed to diligently 

prosecute Bowman for his Clean Water Act violations; therefore Wildlife’s citizen 

suit is not barred.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

This is an appeal from the Final Order of the District Court for the District of New Union 

granting Appellee, Jim Bob Bowman’s (“Bowman”), Motion for Summary Judgment and 

denying Appellant, New Union Wildlife Federation’s (“Wildlife”), Motion for Summary 

Judgment.  (R. at 11.)  Wildlife filed action under section 505 of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 

33 U.S.C. § 1365,
1
 against Bowman for filling wetlands with dredged and fill material without a 

permit in violation of sections 1311(a) and 1344.
2
  (R. at 3.)  New Union Department of 

Environmental Protection (“New Union”) intervened in this action as an interested party, as it is 

the state agency authorized to regulate violations of the CWA.  (R. at 3.)   

On July 1, 2011, shortly after Wildlife became aware of Bowman’s land-clearing 

activities, Wildlife sent Bowman, the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the State 

of New Union notice of its intent to sue Bowman under section 1365, the citizen suit provision.  

(R. at 4.)  Section 1365 authorizes a citizen to file suit against any party “who is alleged to be in 

violation of . . . an effluent standard or limitation” of the CWA. 

Shortly thereafter, New Union contacted Bowman, informing him that he violated both 

state and federal law by filling the wetland.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman then entered into a settlement 

agreement with New Union, and New Union incorporated their agreement into an administrative 

order which Bowman consented to on August 1, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  After issuing the 

administrative order to Bowman, New Union filed suit against Bowman on August 10, 2012, 

under section 1365(g).
3
  (R. at 5.) 

On August 30, 2012, Wildlife filed a complaint with the district court seeking civil 

                                                           
1
 From this point forward, the U.S.C. shall be used in the text, with the parallel citations to the 

CWA referenced in footnotes. 
2
 CWA § 301(a). 

3
 Subsection (g) defines “citizen” within the context of the CWA. 
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penalties and an injunction requiring Bowman to remove the fill material and restore the 

wetlands.  (R. at 5.)  In mid-September, New Union filed its motion to intervene, and on 

November 1, 2012, the district court granted New Union’s motion.  (R. at 5.) 

After discovery, Wildlife and Bowman filed Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment.  (R. 

at 5.)  New Union joined Bowman in his Motion for Summary Judgment on the third (continuing 

violation) and fourth (diligent prosecution) issues and joined Wildlife in its Motion for Summary 

Judgment on the first (standing) and second (CWA violations) issues.  (R. at 5.)  The district 

court found, first, Wildlife lacked standing to bring suit against Bowman under sections 1311(a), 

the provision prohibiting the discharge of pollutants, and 1344, the provision prohibiting the 

discharge of dredged or fill material; second, there was no continuing violation as required for 

subject matter jurisdiction under the citizen suit provision of section 1365(a); third, New Union 

diligently prosecuted Bowman, thus barring Wildlife’s citizen suit; finally, Bowman did not 

violate section 1344 because he did not discharge dredged or fill material into waters the United 

States.  (R. at 11.) 

Wildlife filed a Notice of Appeal, challenging all four holdings, and New Union filed a 

Notice of Appeal, challenging the court’s holdings that Wildlife did not have standing and that 

Bowman did not violate the CWA.  (R. at 1.) 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Bowman owned a one-thousand acre former wetland adjacent to the Muddy River in the 

State of New Union.  (R. at 3, 9.)  The Muddy River forms the border between the State of New 

Union and the State of Progress for over forty miles both upstream and downstream from 

Bowman’s property.  (R. at 3.)  The river is more than five hundred feet wide and six feet deep 

and is commonly used for recreational activities.  (R. at 3.)  Bowman’s thousand-acre parcel of 
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land includes 650 feet of shoreline on the Muddy River, and the property is wholly within the 

one-hundred year flood plain of the river.  (R. at 3.)  Portions of the flood plain and Bowman’s 

property are inundated with water every year when the river is high.  (R. at 3.)  Bowman’s 

property is hydrologically connected to the Muddy River and is covered with trees and other 

vegetation typical of wetlands.  (R. at 3.) 

On June 15, 2011, Bowman began clearing the wetland.  (R. at 4.)  He used bulldozers to 

knock down trees and other vegetation, and he pushed the vegetation into windrows.  (R. at 4.)  

He then burned the windrows and, using bulldozers, dug trenches to push the leveled trees, 

vegetation remains, and ashes into them.  (R. at 4.)  He again leveled the field, pushing soil from 

high portions of the field into the trenches and low-lying portions of the field.  (R. at 4.)  He then 

formed a wide ditch to drain the field into the Muddy River.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman completed this 

work on July 15, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  He left a strip of land approximately 150 feet wide adjacent to 

the Muddy River to clear after it drained because it was the most saturated, and therefore the 

most difficult, part on which to operate the bulldozer.  (R. at 4.)   

Wildlife is a non-profit organization whose primary purpose is to protect the fish and 

wildlife of New Union by safeguarding their habitats.  (R. at 4.)  On July 1, 2011, Wildlife sent 

notice to all necessary parties of its intent to sue Bowman under section 1365.  (R. at 4.)  

Bowman does not contest the validity of the notice.  (R. at 4.)  Shortly thereafter, New Union 

sent Bowman a notice of violation for clearing the wetland.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman entered into a 

settlement agreement with New Union under which he must refrain from clearing the wetlands.  

(R. at 4.)  He must also convey to New Union a conservation easement on the remaining wooded 

area of his property adjacent to the Muddy River plus an additional seventy-five foot buffer zone 

between the wooded area and the new field.  (R. at 4.)  He consented to constructing and 
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maintaining a wetland on the seventy-five foot buffer zone which allows public entry for 

recreational purposes and requires Bowman to keep the easement area in its natural state.  (R. at 

4.)  New Union declined to impose any penalties, although by law, it could have imposed a 

penalty of up to $125,000.  (R. at 4.)  New Union incorporated their agreement into an 

administrative order on August 1, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman is now using the former wetland to 

plant and sow winter wheat, and he maintains the field using the drainage ditch he constructed.  

(R. at 5.) 

Wildlife submitted affidavits from three of its members, all of whom were deposed by 

Bowman.  (R. at 6.)  The three members testified that they use the Muddy River for recreational 

boating, fishing, or picnicking on its banks.  (R. at 6.)  They also testified to knowing that 

wetlands serve valuable functions in maintaining the integrity of rivers, both acting to absorb 

sediment and pollutants and serving as buffers for flooding.  (R. at 6.)  While the members are 

not able to see a difference in the land from the river or its banks, they know there are differences 

and feel a loss from the destruction of the wetlands.  (R. at 6.)  They also fear that Bowman’s 

activities polluted the Muddy River and that the river will be far more polluted if other adjacent 

wetlands are cleared and drained for agricultural uses.  (R. at 6.)  One member, Zeke Norton, 

testified that he has frogged in the area for years.  (R. at 6.)  Prior to Bowman’s actions, Mr. 

Norton would usually catch a dozen decent-sized frogs; however, now there are no frogs in the 

drained field and only a few in the remaining woods and buffer zone.  (R. at 6.)  While 

Bowman’s property had “no trespassing” signs, the record is silent as to any prosecution efforts 

by Bowman for this trespass.  (R. at 6.)  Another member, Dottie Milford, testified that the 

Muddy River looks more polluted than it did prior to Bowman’s activities.  (R. at 6.) 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A district court’s interpretation of the CWA and its resulting grant of summary judgment 

are reviewed de novo.  Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc. v. County of L.A., 673 F.3d 880, 891 (9th 

Cir. 2011); PCI Transp. Inc. v. Fort Worth & W. R.R. Co., 418 F.3d 535, 540 (5th Cir. 

2005).  Appellate courts should review the granting of a summary judgment de novo and are 

therefore not required to afford any deference to the trial court’s decision.  Arnaud v. La. Ins. 

Guar. Ass’n, 635 So. 2d 473 (La. App. 3d Cir. 1994). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The district court erred when it found Wildlife did not have standing to bring suit, that 

Bowman neither violated the CWA nor is continuing to violate the CWA, and that New Union 

diligently prosecuted Bowman.  Wildlife has organizational standing to sue Bowman because 

Wildlife’s members have standing in their own right in that they have alleged sufficient injuries-

in-fact that were caused by Bowman and are redressable by this court.  Additionally, Bowman 

violated the CWA’s Recapture Clause by clearing a virgin wetland and then filling it with 

dredged and fill material to convert it into a wheat field.  Furthermore, the continued presence of 

dredged and fill material in the wetland and use of Bowman’s manmade swale to channel run-off 

into the Muddy River places the Muddy River at indefinite risk; therefore, this Court does have 

subject matter jurisdiction. 

Finally, Wildlife’s citizen suit may proceed due to New Union’s failure to properly 

commence state action, bypassing public notice and participation.  New Union also failed to 

diligently prosecute its defective order by failing to impose any civil penalties for Bowman’s 

egregious actions, and requesting the reconstruction of only one acre of wetland out of the nearly 

one-thousand acres that were destroyed. 
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Congress intended for private citizens to provide an additional level of enforcement of 

the CWA when the state and federal government fails to diligently prosecute violators.  The 

CWA’s purpose is to safeguard America’s waters from pollution as well as restoring and 

maintaining these essential life sources.  Because the Nation’s waters are vital to the health of 

wildlife and provide a core part of American recreation, Bowman and others similarly situated 

should not be permitted to violate the CWA and then evade both a citizen suit and punishment by 

the court.  

ARGUMENT 

I. WILDLIFE HAS STANDING AS AN ORGANIZATION BECAUSE ITS 

MEMBERS HAVE STANDING IN THEIR OWN RIGHT, THIS SUIT IS 

GERMANE TO WILDLIFE’S PURPOSE, AND WILDLIFE DOES NOT NEED 

THE PARTICIPATION OF ALL OF ITS MEMBERS TO BRING SUIT. 

 

Wildlife has organizational standing because it satisfies all of the required elements under 

the organizational standing exception.  The CWA authorizes federal district courts to hear suits 

by any individual who has an interest that may be adversely affected by a CWA violation.  

Courts confer standing upon organizations that demonstrate an interest in environmental or 

consumer protection.  An organization has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members if:  (A) 

its members have standing to sue in their own right; (B) the interest the organization seeks to 

protect is germane to the organization’s purpose; and (C) neither the asserted claim nor the 

requested relief requires the participation of all of the organization’s members.  To demonstrate 

its members have standing in their own right, an organization must prove the following:  (1) at 

least one of its members suffered an injury-in-fact; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the 

defendant’s actions; and (3) the injury is redressable by the court.  Wildlife has organizational 

standing because the members have alleged injuries-in-fact that were caused by Bowman’s CWA 

violations, and these injuries are redressable by this Court; this suit is germane to Wildlife’s 
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purpose of protecting animal habitats; and participation of all Wildlife’s members is not required. 

A. The members of Wildlife have standing in their own right because they 

suffered injuries caused by Bowman’s CWA violations, and these injuries are 

redressable by this Court.  

 

Wildlife satisfies the organizational standing exception because its members have 

standing to bring suit in their own right.  See Friends of the Earth v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. 

(TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 181 (2000) (citing Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comm’n, 432 

U.S. 333, 343 (1977).  A member must allege (1) an “injury-in-fact” that is concrete and 

particularized as well as actual or imminent; (2) the injury must be fairly traceable to the acts of 

the defendant; and (3) it is likely, not merely speculative, that the injury can be redressed by the 

court.  Id. 

1. Wildlife’s members have sufficiently alleged imminent, concrete, and 

particularized injuries through their decreased recreational use and 

aesthetic value in the wetland and the Muddy River.  

 

The members’ loss of recreational use and aesthetic value in the wetland and Muddy 

River are sufficient injuries-in-fact.  As the party invoking federal jurisdiction, Wildlife must 

demonstrate that its members have suffered an injury-in-fact that is concrete and particularized 

as well as actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.  Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 

504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992).  The reverence afforded to environmental protection has prompted the 

courts to take a unique approach in defining injury involving environmental plaintiffs.  The 

threshold for establishing an injury under the CWA is low.  Sierra Club, Lone Star Chapter v. 

Cedar Point Oil Co., 73 F.3d 546, 557 n.23 (5th Cir. 1996).  To survive a motion for summary 

judgment, only one member needs to present evidence, such as an affidavit, to establish an 

injury.  See Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560; see also Friends of the Earth v. Consol. Rail Corp., 768 F.2d 

57, 61 (2d Cir. 1985) (holding that two citizens’ affidavits “quite adequately satisfy the standing 
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threshold”); Save Our Cmty. v. U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 971 F.2d 1155, 1161 (5th Cir. 1992). 

Additionally, an environmental plaintiff does not have to prove the environment has been 

harmed.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 183.  The plaintiff only has to assert that he or she suffered an 

economic, recreational, or aesthetic loss in the jeopardized area.  Id.  (“[E]nvironmental plaintiffs 

adequately allege injury in fact when they aver that they use the affected area and are persons 

‘for whom the aesthetic and recreational values of the area will be lessened’ by the challenged 

activity.”); see also Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 494 (2009).  The injury does 

not have to be severe; an “identifiable trifle” is enough to satisfy the standard.  Cedar Point Oil 

Co., 73 F.3d at 557; see also Consol. Rail Corp., 768 F.2d at 61. 

Further, an environmental plaintiff does not need a “legally protected interest” or right of 

access to the affected area in order to allege an injury.  Cantrell v. City of Long Beach, 241 F.3d 

674, 681 (9th Cir. 2001); see also Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 

263 F. App’x 348, 354 (4th Cir. 2008).  An injury occurs so long as the affected area was 

capable of being used and observed from adjacent, accessible areas.  Cantrell, 241 F.3d at 681.  

Many courts recognize the desire to use or observe animal and plant species for aesthetic 

purposes is an “undeniably [ ] cognizable interest” for standing.  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 562-63; see 

also Sierra Club v. Franklin Cnty. Power of Ill., LLC, 546 F.3d 918, 925-26 (7th Cir. 2008); 

Cantrell, 241 F.3d at 681.  Furthermore, reasonable concerns over water quality and safety are 

sufficient to establish injury if the discharge of pollutants hinders a plaintiff’s recreational use.  

Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 183-84. 

In Laidlaw, the Supreme Court held that reasonable concerns and fear over local 

discharges of pollutants constituted a sufficient injury-in-fact when that fear adversely affected 

or deterred recreational use or aesthetic value.  Id. at 181-83.  Five members of Friends of the 
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Earth, an environmental group, submitted affidavits asserting their reasonable concerns about the 

effects of Laidlaw’s discharges into the river and how those discharges directly hindered their 

interests.  Id. at 183-84.  One member, who lived two miles from the river, stated that she 

picnicked, walked, bird-watched, and waded along the river to enjoy the natural beauty of the 

area.  Id. at 182.  However, she stopped engaging in these activities as a direct result of her 

concern about the harmful effects of the pollutants Laidlaw discharged into the river.  Id.  

Similarly, another member, who lived twenty miles down the river, stated that she would 

continue to use the river and its surrounding land if it was not for the harmful pollutants in the 

water.  Id. 

Similarly, Bowman’s destruction of the wetland has adversely affected the aesthetic value 

of the Muddy River and has deterred recreational use.  Three of Wildlife members submitted 

affidavits detailing their recreational and aesthetic losses in either boating, fishing, picnicking, or 

frogging.  Additionally, all of the members testified that they now fear the quality of the river.  

One member, Dottie Milford, noticed the river looked more polluted since Bowman destroyed 

the wetland.  Another member, Zeke Norton, observed a significant decrease in the frog 

population since Bowman’s activities.  These injuries, like in Laidlaw, have been recognized by 

the courts as “cognizable” interests, even if the individual does not have a right of access to the 

land.  Thus, the injury-in-fact test is satisfied because the members’ reasonable concerns 

regarding their recreational and aesthetic interests are concrete, particularized, and imminent. 

2. Wildlife’s members suffered injuries-in-fact due to Bowman’s deposit 

of dredged and fill materials into the Muddy River. 

 

Bowman caused the members’ injuries by depositing dredged spoil into the wetland.  If a 

statute, like the CWA, grants a procedural right to a plaintiff to enforce a special interest, that 

plaintiff can establish causation and redressability under a lower standard.  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 



11 
 

572 n.7.  To establish causation, environmental plaintiffs need only show that the harm suffered 

is “fairly traceable” to the defendant.  Id. at 560.  Further, an environmental plaintiff only has to 

establish that the defendant engaged in an activity in a specific area that is typical of the 

plaintiff’s injuries.  Natural Resources Def. Council, Inc. v. Watkins, 954 F.2d 974 (4th Cir. 

1992). 

In Watkins, an environmental group sued to prevent the reopening of a nuclear reactor 

located near a river.  954 F.2d at 976.  In establishing traceability, the organization stated that the 

nuclear reactor was responsible for the initial discharge of pollutants into the river, which 

damaged the surrounding environment and wetlands.  Id. at 977.  The members were deterred 

from using the surrounding areas because they feared the discharged pollutants.  Id. at 979.  The 

lower court erroneously found the reactor was not the present cause of the members’ diminished 

use because the reactor closed several years earlier.  Id.  On appeal, the Fourth Circuit reversed 

and held the reactor’s inactivity was insufficient to override traceability.  Id. at 979-80.  

Additionally, the court held the plaintiffs need not prove the defendant was the sole source of the 

injuries so long as the defendant “discharges a pollutant that ‘causes or contributes to the kinds 

of injuries alleged by the plaintiffs.’”  Id. at 980 (quoting Pub. Interest Research Grp. of N.J., 

Inc. v. Powell Duffryn Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 72 (3d Cir. 1990)).  Instead, the plaintiffs 

must only allege the defendant contributed to the harmful condition which injured the plaintiffs.  

Id. at 980. 

Turning to effects on wetlands, certain harmful effects are associated with wetland 

degradation.  Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Alexander, 473 F. Supp. 525, 534 (W.D. La. 

1979).  Wetlands provide shelter and food for animals, such as otters and beavers, and fish 

spawn in the waters.  Id.  However, if a wetland is cleared, the land is stripped of its protective 
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shelters and vegetation that both land and aquatic animals rely on for survival.  Id.  Further, 

dredge sinks to the bottom when deposited into water bodies, smothering fish eggs, plants, and 

insects—all food sources for surrounding animals.  City of Alma v. United States, 744 F. Supp. 

1546, 1567 (S.D. Ga. 1990); Alexander, 473 F. Supp. at 534. 

Here, Bowman cleared 998 acres of wetland habitat adjacent to the Muddy River.  

Shortly after these acts, Wildlife’s members noticed lowered species richness and diminished 

aesthetics in the area.  Frogs previously occupied the area for years leading up to Bowman’s 

actions.  However, the frog population’s rapid disappearance after Bowman’s actions reasonably 

stemmed from the extensive destruction of the frogs’ habitat and food source.  Additionally, Ms. 

Milford’s observations concerning the water’s changed appearance is also traceable to 

Bowman’s clearing of the wetland and deposit of dredged spoils.  Like the rationale in Watkins, 

it is reasonable to trace the plaintiffs’ injuries to Bowman’s activities because no other events 

occurred in the area to contribute to these differences.  Further, the resulting injuries are typically 

associated with wetland destruction. 

3. This Court can redress Wildlife’s injuries by requiring Bowman to 

reconstruct the wetland and imposing civil penalties.  

 

Wildlife members’ injuries can be redressed by this Court by imposing civil penalties and 

requiring Bowman to reconstruct the wetland.  A plaintiff must establish that a favorable 

decision by the court will likely, rather than speculatively, redress the plaintiff’s harm.  Lujan, 

504 U.S. at 561.  Similar to causation, the threshold for establishing a sufficient remedy is lower 

for environmental cases, especially if a statute provides for a procedural right.  Id. at 572.
4
  

Permissible sanctions include requiring the violator to restore land back to its original state.  

                                                           
4
 CWA § 505(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), the citizen suit provision, provides that any citizen may 

commence a civil action on his own behalf against any person who is alleged to be in violation of 

the CWA. 
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United States v. Bailey, 571 F.3d 791, 806 (8th Cir. 2009).  Also, action that effectively stops and 

deters future misconduct may provide appropriate redress.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185. 

a. This Court can grant injunctive relief, including requiring 

Bowman to restore the former wetland back to its original 

state. 

 

This Court can effectively remedy the organization’s injury through injunctive relief, 

forcing Bowman to reconstruct the wetland.  The CWA authorizes commencement of civil action 

for “appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction.”  33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).
5
  

The imposition of injunctions to restore destroyed wetlands effectuates the goals of the CWA “to 

maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  United States 

v. Cumberland Farms of Conn., Inc., 826 F.2d 1151, 1164 (1st Cir. 1987) (quoting 33 U.S.C. § 

1251
6
).  At the very least, injunctive relief would “materially reduce [the organization’s] 

reasonable concerns” about the violations.  Interfaith Cmty. Org. v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc., 399 

F.3d 248, 257 (3d Cir. 2005).  Courts are permitted to exercise equitable discretion to achieve 

compliance with the CWA.  See Weinberger v. Romero-Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 312 (1982).  

Courts have the ability to issue injunctive restorative orders despite no explicit statutory 

authority to do so.  United States v. Republic Steel Corp., 362 U.S. 482, 492 (1960).  Restoring 

wetlands maximizes environmental benefits and is in the best interest of the public and the 

Nation.  Cumberland, 826 F.2d at 1164. 

Courts have found that injunctions ordering wetland restoration are appropriate sanctions.  

See Bailey, 571 F.3d at 791; Cumberland, 826 F.2d at 1165.  In Bailey, an individual landowner 

built a road through a wetland without a permit.  571 F.3d at 795.  The landowner dug ditches on 

both sides of the road and used the excavated material to support the road.  Id.  The court ordered 

                                                           
5
 CWA § 309(b). 

6
 CWA § 101. 
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Bailey to restore the wetland, which included removing dredged and fill material used in the 

construction of the road.  Id. at 805.  The court rejected the landowner’s contention that he would 

have difficulty paying for the restoration and hinged much of its decision on the fact that he 

stood to profit from his destruction of the wetland.  Id. at 804-05. 

Similarly, in Cumberland, the court imposed a restorative injunction on a farming 

corporation, requiring it to restore a drained wetland to its original condition.  826 F.2d at 1164.  

At issue in Cumberland was a two-thousand acre wetland in Massachusetts.  Id. at 1153.  

Without a permit, the corporation converted 674.4 acres of the wetland into farmland by using 

dredge and fill techniques, bulldozing stumps and roots, and leveling the soil in preparation for 

planting.  Id. at 1154.  The court found the corporation’s activities did not fall within the 

statutory exemption for agricultural activities, as it was not prior established and continuing 

farming, but instead constituted a new conversion of a wetland to agriculture.  Id. at 1155.  The 

court recognized the heavy burden the restoration would place on the corporation but rejected it, 

stating, “[The corporation] has no one but itself to blame for that burden.”  Id. at 1165. 

This Court should order Bowman to restore the entire wetland back to its original form.  

The magnitude of the restoration is similar to the nearly-700-acres involved in Cumberland, 

which the court found was reasonable.  Restoring the wetland is the only remedy that can make 

both the plaintiffs and the environment whole again. 

b. This Court should impose civil penalties to deter future 

violations by Bowman and other potential violators. 

 

In examining redressability, the Supreme Court has adamantly held “all civil penalties 

have some deterrent effect.”  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185 (citing Hudson v. United States, 522 U.S. 

93, 102 (1997)).  In Laidlaw, the Court imposed civil penalties of $405,800 when Laidlaw 

exceeded the discharge limitations set forth in its permit.  528 U.S. at 168.  In calculating the 
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penalties, the court took into account the economic benefits of Laidlaw’s noncompliance and 

held the amount was necessary to deter future violations.  Id.  Also, in Cumberland, the court 

imposed $150,000 in fines on top of the restoration injunction as an equitable sanction to prevent 

this type of wrong.  826 F.2d at 1153 (imposing an initial fine of $540,000 of which $390,000 

was to be remitted to the corporation if it restored the wetland as ordered in the injunction). 

In the present case, various enforceable remedies are available that would deter further 

destruction of the wetlands surrounding the Muddy River.  This Court may impose civil 

penalties, which New Union never levied on Bowman, as the CWA authorizes penalties of up to 

$25,000 per day for as long as the violation persists.  33 U.S.C. § 1319(d).
7
  This Court’s 

imposition of civil penalties on Bowman would also deter others from destroying wetlands and 

subsequently profiting from the destruction.  Wildlife’s members have been stripped of their 

legally-recognized interests, whereas Bowman is now profiting from their loss through the 

harvesting of his wheat field.  The court may also order Bowman to make reasonable efforts to 

obtain the permit required under the CWA’s Recapture Clause.  

B. This suit is germane to Wildlife’s purpose as a non-profit organization whose 

goal is to protect wildlife through the preservation of its habitats.  

 

This suit is germane to Wildlife’s purpose because it furthers the protection of wildlife 

through preserving its habitats.  Courts consider two factors when determining germaneness:  

first, the lawsuit upholds the interests and purpose of the organization that originally attracted its 

members; and second, the lawsuit relates to the expertise and knowledge of the organization.  

Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Downtown Dev., Inc., 448 F.3d 138, 149 (2d Cir. 2006) 

(citing Humane Soc’y of the U.S. v. Hodel, 840 F.2d 45, 56 (D.C. Cir. 1988)).  The second 

requirement prevents an ambush of suits by organizations that have little experience or personal 

                                                           
7
 CWA § 309(d).  Both regulations authorize a maximum penalty of $125,000. 
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concern over the legal dispute.  Id.  However, courts do not treat the germaneness requirement as 

a strict standard.  Humane Soc’y, 840 F.2d at 56-57.  So long as the lawsuit is relevant to the 

organization’s goals, germaneness is easy to prove.  Id. at 58; see also Ass’n of Am. Physicians & 

Surgeons, Inc. v. Tex. Med. Bd., 627 F.3d 547, 550 n.2 (5th Cir. 2010) (“[G]ermaneness 

requirement is ‘undemanding’ and requires ‘mere pertinence’ between the litigation at issue and 

the organization’s purpose.”). 

In National Lime Ass’n v. Environmental Protection Agency, 233 F.3d 625, 630-31 (D.C. 

Cir. 2000), an organization of lime manufacturers sued the EPA over emission standards it set 

for local cement manufacturers.  Although the cement manufacturers were within the EPA’s 

guidelines, the organization raised concerns regarding Clean Air Act violations.  Id. at 631.  In 

response, the EPA tried to assert that the organization failed to meet the germaneness prong since 

the organization’s focus was on lime production, not cement production.  Id. at 637.  The court 

reminded the parties that germaneness is an “undemanding” standard.  Id. at 636.  The court 

found that, even though the organization focused on lime manufacturing, the regulation of 

cement manufacturing was also “pertinent” to the organization’s purpose.  Id.  The court stated 

that because there was an overlap of expertise in the manufacturing processes for cement and 

lime, the germaneness prong was easily satisfied.  Id. 

Wildlife is a non-profit organization whose purpose is to protect the fish and wildlife of 

New Union, and it aims to preserve the habitats which are vital to the survival of New Union’s 

fish and wildlife.  The purpose of Wildlife’s lawsuit against Bowman is to seek redress for the 

destruction of the Muddy River’s surrounding wetlands and the habitats that sustained life for 

many wildlife and plant species.  Further, Wildlife’s members have particular knowledge about 

the ecology surrounding the Muddy River and its adjacent wetlands.  Because Wildlife’s lawsuit 
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is central to the very purpose and existence of the organization, Wildlife exceeded the low 

threshold needed to prove germaneness. 

C. Neither Wildlife’s asserted claim nor its requested relief requires the 

participation of all its members in the lawsuit. 

 

The participation of all of Wildlife’s members in the suit is unnecessary.  To determine 

whether group-wide participation is required for standing, the court looks at the remedy the 

organization is seeking.  Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 515 (1975).  Group-wide participation is 

not required if an organization is seeking prospective relief.  Id. Prospective relief is defined as 

“purely legal rulings” and other non-monetary remedies.  Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council, 448 

F.3d at 150 (citing Bano v. Union Carbide Corp., 361 F.3d 696, 714 (2d Cir. 2004)).  Only if an 

organization is seeking personal monetary damages is the participation of all members required 

so that “individualized proof” of the damages owed can be presented.  Warth, 422 U.S. at 515-

16; Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council, 448 F.3d at 150 (citing Bano, 361 F.3d at 714). 

In Building and Construction Trades Council, a labor organization filed suit under the 

CWA and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act when several entities began 

redeveloping land adjacent to a river.  448 F.3d at 142-43.  The court, in examining the 

participation prong, looked at the relief the organization sought.  Id. at 150.  Because the 

organization asked for civil penalties and an injunction, rather than personal money damages, 

these prospective remedies did not require group-wide participation to establish standing.  Id. 

Wildlife filed suit under the CWA, seeking prospective relief, in the form of an 

injunction, civil remedies, and reconstruction of the wetland.  These remedies are strictly tailored 

to ordering compliance with the CWA as well as upholding the CWA’s purpose.  Thus, all of 

Wildlife’s members are not required for Wildlife to have standing to bring suit. 
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II. BOWMAN VIOLATED SECTIONS 1311(a) AND 1344 WHEN HE CLEARED A 

WETLAND ADJACENT TO NAVIGABLE WATER AND DEPOSITED 

DREDGED AND FILL MATERIAL INTO THE WETLAND. 

 

Bowman’s destruction of a wetland adjacent to navigable water and subsequent deposit 

of dredged and fill material into the wetland violates sections 1311(a) and 1344.  The CWA 

prohibits the discharge of any pollutant from any point source into navigable waters except in 

compliance with a valid permit issued by the EPA, the Army Corps, or a state agency under 

sections 1342 or 1344.
8
  United States v. Cundiff, 555 F.3d 200, 206 (6th Cir. 2009) (citing 33 

U.S.C. § 1311).  Violations under section 1344 require a five step analysis:  (A) there must be a 

navigable water body; (B) in which a prohibited pollutant; (C) has been discharged; (D) from a 

point source; (E) unless an exemption excuses these discharges.  Parker v. Scrap Metal 

Processors, Inc., 386 F.3d 993, 1008, 1011-13 (11th Cir. 2004).  All discharges are prohibited if 

they are made without a permit or beyond the boundaries of an operative permit.  Id.  Bowman 

violated sections 1311 and 1344 when he dredged a wetland subject to the CWA’s jurisdiction, 

filled the wetland with dredged spoil, and converted the wetland into a wheat field. 

A. Bowman’s property is a wetland, a navigable water subject to the CWA. 

 

Bowman’s wetland is a navigable water under the CWA.  The CWA protects America’s 

“navigable waters” as well as the Nation’s “territorial seas.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251.  Since 1985, the 

Supreme Court has recognized the intricate role that wetlands play in the stability of the Nation’s 

waters and has consequently enveloped wetlands within the CWA’s protection.  Rapanos v. 

United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006).  The Supreme Court has consistently held that wetlands 

adjacent to navigable waters are themselves navigable waters.  Sackett v. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 

132 S. Ct. 1367, 1370 (2012) (citing United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 

                                                           
8
 CWA § 402. 
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121, 135 (1985)); Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715, 725 (2006).  In Rapanos, the plurality 

held that wetlands that have a “continuous surface connection” to navigable water bodies are also 

navigable waters.  547 U.S. at 742.  The concurrence, on the other hand, preferred a more 

traditional standard—wetlands that have a “significant nexus” to navigable water are themselves 

navigable waters.  Id. at 759 (citing Solid Waste Agency of N. Cook Cnty. v. U.S. Army Corps of 

Eng’rs, 531 U.S. 159, 167 (2001).  Justice Kennedy pointed out that the underlying reason 

wetlands are protected by the CWA is because of their substantial beneficial effects on the 

Nation’s waters, such as “filtering and purifying water draining into adjacent water bodies, 

. . . slowing the flow of runoff into lakes, rivers, and streams so as to prevent flooding and 

erosion, . . . and providing critical habitat for aquatic animal species.”  Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 766. 

All parties agree Bowman’s property is a wetland.  Similar to Riverside Bayview and 

Rapanos, Bowman’s wetland is directly on the Muddy River, a navigable water.  Also, 

Bowman’s wetland meets both the surface-connection test and significant-nexus test of Rapanos.  

The part of the wetland closest to the Muddy River shares a surface connection with the river, 

and the wetland floods when the Muddy River rises.  In fact, Bowman was unable to operate his 

bulldozer in this area due to its heavy saturation.  Even after drainage, it was difficult for 

Bowman to commence operation without depositing more fill to dry out the wetland.  Finally, 

the entire wetland shares a significant nexus with the Muddy River due to its hydrological 

connection.  Because the wetland is a water protected by the CWA, this element is satisfied. 

B. Bowman violated the CWA by converting the wetland’s vegetation into 

dredged spoil, a prohibited pollutant. 

 

Bowman created dredged spoil when he uprooted trees and vegetation from the wetland.  

Under the CWA, pollutants are interpreted broadly and include “dredged spoil, . . . garbage, . . . 

chemical wastes, biological materials, . . . rock, sand, . . . [and] agricultural waste.”  33 U.S.C. § 
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1362(6).
9
  Although 402 permits pertain to these general types of pollutants, 404 permits pertain 

specifically to dredge and fill material.  33 U.S.C. § 1342; § 1344.  Under recent EPA and Army 

Corps rules, “dredge material” has been defined as “material that is excavated or dredged from 

waters of the United States.”  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2; see also Avoyelles 

Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 925 (5th Cir. 1983) (holding trees and 

vegetation excavated from a wetland constitute dredged material).  Additionally, “fill material” 

has been defined as “material placed in waters of the United States where the material has the 

effect of . . . [r]eplacing any portion of a water of the United States with dry land.”  33 C.F.R. § 

323.2(e)(1)(i); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2; see also United States v. Bay-Houston Towing Co., 197 F. 

Supp. 2d 788, 798 (E.D. Mich. 2002) (treating vegetation and clay as fill material when used to 

construct roads and windrows); Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 924 (holding that unburned material and 

vegetation constituted fill material when buried and deposited into the ground).  

Several circuits have affirmed that dredged material that comes from a wetland falls 

under the meaning of “pollutant” as “dredged spoil.”  United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 335 

(4th Cir. 2000); Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 213.  Rocks, trees, soil, and other materials are pollutants 

because, once the material is excavated and transformed from its natural state, the material 

becomes “dredged spoil.”  Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 947-48 (7th Cir. 

2004); Deaton, 209 F.3d at 335; Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 213-14. 

In Deaton, the court held that excavated dirt and vegetation from a wetland were dredged 

spoils and thus pollutants under 33 U.S.C. section 1311.  209 F.3d at 336.  The court proceeded 

to explain the harmful effects that redeposited materials have on wetlands.  Id.  When a wetland 

is altered or dredged, vegetation that once absorbed pollutants is no longer present to soak up 

                                                           
9
 CWA § 502(6). 
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future discharges.  Id.  Remaining vegetation is unable to recharge and absorb the overabundance 

of toxins.  Id.  Most importantly, the toxins that were once trapped by the vegetation are 

“mobilized” and released back into the environment.  Id.  Thus, “[i]t is of no consequence that 

what is now dredged spoil was previously present on the same property in the less threatening 

form of dirt and vegetation in an undisturbed state.”  Id. at 335.  Redeposited dredged and fill 

material presents the same danger to the environment as many other pollutants. 

Here, Bowman destroyed nearly all of the trees and vegetation on the wetland.  Parallel to 

Cundiff, Deaton, and Greenfield, this act alone transformed the wetland’s natural resources into 

dredged spoil.  However, Bowman took it one step further—he created windrows out of the 

dredged material, set fire to the windrows, pushed the remains and ash into trenches, and then 

redeposited soil from different parts of the wetland in order to level the land.  Thus, Bowman 

used the wetland’s excavated matter as both dredged and fill material with the purpose of 

draining and converting the wetland for agricultural use.  Such intensive alterations of the 

wetland generated the types of pollutants that the CWA sought to eliminate. 

C. The EPA and Army Corps’ amendment to the definition of addition furthers 

the contention that the erroneous “outside world” element is not required. 

 

The trial court erred by applying an incorrect definition of “addition,” requiring that an 

addition come from the “outside world.”  The improper interpretation of “addition” as coming 

from the “outside world” stems from two primary decisions.  Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 

693 F.2d 156 (D.C. Cir. 1982); Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Consumers Power Co., 862 F.2d 580 (6th 

Cir. 1988).  In both Gorsuch and Consumers Power, a dam recirculated water and emptied it 

back into a contiguous body.  693 F.2d 156; 862 F.2d 580.  In Consumers Power, the dam 

moved along live and dead fish, which were deemed pollutants.  862 F.2d at 583.  The court gave 

deference to the EPA’s interpretation of addition and determined that fish that died during the 
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water-pumping process did not add pollutants to the navigable waters because the dead fish did 

not originate from the “outside world.”  Consumer Power, 862 F.2d at 585.   

However, many courts disagree with the “outside world” analysis when applied to 

wetlands.  Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 924 n.43; Macklin, 361 F.3d at 947; Deaton, 209 F.3d at 336.  

Unlike general pollutants which oftentimes come from the “outside world,” dredged and fill 

material is derived from the water body itself.  Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 924 n.43. 

Until 2008, many circuits addressed this inconsistency by holding that the sidecasting, 

dredging, and leveling of wetlands constituted an addition under the CWA.  See Deaton, 209 

F.3d at 335; United States v. Hubenka, 438 F.3d 1026, 1035 (10th Cir. 2006) (holding dredged 

sand and rocks from the river constituted an addition when the defendant used the material to 

create dikes); Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 923 (holding excavated trees and vegetation used to fill and 

dry a wetland constituted an “addition”). 

Avoyelles is a classic case addressing the addition of dredged and fill material into a 

wetland.  The defendants cleared a 20,000-acre wetland in order to plant a soybean crop.  

Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 901.  The defendants used bulldozers with shearing blades to cut timber 

and vegetation at ground level.  Id.  The vegetation was raked into windrows, burned, and then 

deposited into the ground by other machinery.  Id.  The court held the burying of these materials 

constituted an addition of dredged and fill material into the land.  Id. 

In response to the circuits’ split definitions of addition, the EPA and the Army Corps 

issued new definitions for select section 1344 terms in 2008.  Currently, a “discharge of dredge 

material” is defined as “any addition of dredged material into, including redeposit of dredged 

material other than incidental fallback within, the waters of the United States.”  40 C.F.R. § 

232.2(1) (2008); 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1) (2008) (emphasis added).  Furthermore, the definition 
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also includes the addition of such material which results from “mechanized landclearing, 

ditching, channelization, or other excavation.”  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1)(iii). 

Issued a year later, the Cundiff court found the “dredging, filling, and mechanized 

landclearing” of the defendant’s wetland was a “discharge of dredged material” under the new 

regulations.  555 F.3d at 214 (stating, “even if the statute [is] ambiguous on whether the 

prohibition on the ‘addition’ of pollutants includes sidecasting, it is nevertheless a reasonable 

agency interpretation and must be accorded deference”).  Although the defendants tried to assert 

that such dredging was incidental, the court held the dredging of five acres was too extensive to 

be classified as “de minimis, incidental soil movement.”  Id. 

In the present case, this Court should continue to give deference to the EPA and Army 

Corps by honoring their recent definitions.  The current definitions are at odds with the “outside 

world” definition because material does not have to be foreign to the land in order to constitute a 

discharge or addition.  Like Avoyelles, Bowman’s dredged material derived from the wetland 

itself and was redeposited in order to fill and convert the land into a wheat field.  Additionally, 

New Union, the enforcing agency in this case, found Bowman’s discharge was an addition, and 

their decision should be afforded great deference.  Bowman’s actions are thus prohibited under 

section 1344, and no exemption applies.  Infra, Part E. 

D. Bowman’s wetland contains various point sources that jeopardize the 

wetland and put the Muddy River at risk. 

 

Various point sources exist on Bowman’s wetland, including the points where dredged 

spoil and fill material entered the wetland.  A “point source” is a conveyance that deposits a 

pollutant into a navigable water.  Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 922.  A point source is interpreted 

broadly and may include “any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, . . . [or] container.”  33 
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U.S.C. § 1362(14)
10

; Parker, 386 F.3d at 1009; see also Catskill Mountains Chapter of Trout 

Unltd. v. City of New York, 273 F.3d 481, 493 (2d Cir. 2001) (stating that a pipe which drains 

pollutants from a factory is a point source, even if the factory is not).  Several circuits have held 

that land-clearing machinery and construction equipment falls within the definition of a point 

source.  Parker, 386 F.3d at 1009 (concerning large trucks and construction equipment); Borden 

Ranch P’ship v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 261 F.3d 810, 815 (9th Cir. 2001) (concerning 

bulldozers and tractors); Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 922 (concerning bulldozers and backhoes). 

In addition to equipment, any artificial structure which funnels and carries pollutants to a 

navigable water is a point source, even if the flow through that structure is intermittent.  

Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 735-36.  For example, in Parker, the court found that piles of debris 

constitute a point source when the piles function like a channel to funnel storm water through a 

junkyard and into navigable water.  386 F.3d at 1009 (citing Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 922). 

In the present case, all parties concede that Bowman’s bulldozers were a point source that 

transformed the wetland’s natural resources into dredged and fill material.  Like the defendants 

in Avoyelles and Cundiff, Bowman used mechanized equipment to tear down vegetation on a 

wetland.  Bowman then used his equipment to push the newly-created dredged spoils into rows, 

and he redeposited that material into another area of the wetland.  Furthermore, Bowman’s 

construction of a swale to drain the wetlands, just like in Avoyelles, created another point source.  

The swale made it possible for any pollutants unearthed by the excavation to flow out with the 

water drainage into the Muddy River.  Thus, the creation of the swale and its continued use 

jeopardizes the integrity of the Muddy River. 
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E. Bowman is not entitled to an exemption under the CWA because he violated 

the CWA’s Recapture Clause. 

 

No exemption frees Bowman from acquiring a permit because his Recapture Clause 

violation trumps all possible exemptions.  After the four elements of a CWA violation are 

established, a defendant may assert an exemption allows for the discharge without a permit.  For 

example, normal farming activities and maintenance of existing structures and roads are exempt 

under the CWA.  33 U.S.C. § 1344(f)(1).
11

  Congress inserted a “Recapture Clause” in section 

1344(f)(2),
12

 requiring individuals to obtain a permit for the discharge of “dredged or fill 

material into the navigable waters incidental to any activity having as its purpose bringing an 

area of the navigable waters into a use to which it was not previously subject” and this discharge 

hinders “the flow or circulation of navigable waters.”  Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 215; United States v. 

Moses, 496 F.3d 984, 992 (9th Cir. 2007); Macklin, 361 F.3d at 949.  Therefore, if an individual 

converts a wetland by dredging or filling it, hindering the flow of that source, the conduct is 

impermissible without a permit.  Cundiff, 555 F.3d at 215.  On numerous occasions, the circuits 

have recognized that the excavation and destruction of a virgin wetland and its subsequent 

conversion without a permit violates the Recapture Clause, even if the activities which take place 

on the wetland are exempted in other parts of the Act.  Id.; Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 925. 

In Avoyelles, the defendants asserted that their conversion of a 20,000-acre wetland into a 

soybean crop was a normal farming operation that satisfied the section 1344 normal farming 

exemptions.  715 F.2d at 925.  However, the court determined that the defendants’ arguments 

undermined the purpose of the Recapture Clause.  Id.  Congress created a specific provision to 

address “activities that involve changing the use of the land” and only permitted a narrow 
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exception to those activities which have “little or no adverse effect on the nation’s waters.”  Id. at 

925-26.  Because farming activities could not occur until the wetland was cleared and filled, the 

farming operations were not typical of the wetland’s original use.  Id. at 925. 

Bowman’s situation is parallel to the violations in Avoyelles and Cundiff.  Bowman 

owned a wetland that was not previously used for agricultural purposes.  Additionally, by filling 

the wetland, Bowman converted the wetland—a navigable water—into land for agricultural use, 

thus effectively paralyzing the flow and circulation of the property.  Therefore, no exemption 

shields Bowman from his Recapture Clause violation. 

III. BOWMAN’S VIOLATIONS ARE CONTINUING AND ONGOING BECAUSE 

DREDGED SPOILS ARE STILL PRESENT IN THE WETLAND, WHICH IS A 

VIOLATION OF THE RECAPTURE CLAUSE. 

 

Bowman continues to violate the Recapture Clause because dredged spoils still remains 

in the wetland.  Under section 1365, a plaintiff must allege a present or future violation by the 

defendant to have subject matter jurisdiction.  The threshold is low, as the plaintiff only needs to 

assert a good-faith claim that a violation is occurring or is likely to recur.  Bowman’s conversion 

of the wetland into a wheat field will be continuous and ongoing until Bowman returns the 

former wetland to its prior state.  See supra Part II.E. 

A case becomes moot only if the defendant proves that “subsequent events make it 

absolutely clear that the allegedly wrongful behavior could not reasonably be expected to recur.”  

Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 170 (citing United States v. Concentrated Phosphate Exp. Assn., Inc., 393 

U.S. 199, 203 (1968)).  A defendant is not shielded from judicial review by simply stopping the 

conduct that gave rise to the initial violation.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 169-70 (citing City of 

Mesquite v. Aladdin’s Castle, Inc., 455 U.S. 283, 289 (1982)).  Wrongful behavior may 

constitute an ongoing and continuous violation if its effects are not corrected.  City of Mountain 
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Park v. Lakeside at Ansley, LLC, 560 F. Supp. 2d 1288, 1293 (N.D. Ga. 2008); see also Sierra 

Club v. El Paso Gold Mines, Inc., 421 F.3d 1133, 1139 (10th Cir. 2005); see also Sasser v. 

Adm’r, U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 1993).  If unauthorized material 

remains in an area where its discharge is unlawful, the continued presence of that material 

constitutes an ongoing and continuous violation.  Sasser, 990 F.2d at 129. 

In Sasser, an individual applied for a 404 permit to reconstruct a dike that would 

impound water within a seventy-six-acre wetland.  Id. at 128.  Despite being denied the permit, 

the defendant built a new embankment by placing dredged and fill material into the wetland.  Id.  

The court examined the continued presence of the dredged and fill material and determined that 

there was a continuous and ongoing violation.  Id. at 129.  Each day the unauthorized dredged 

and fill material remains in the wetland “constitutes an additional day of violation.”  Id. 

Although Bowman stopped clearing the wetlands and turned over three acres to the State, 

the ongoing violations pertain to Bowman’s current agricultural activities.  As in Sasser, 

Bowman’s deposit of dredged and fill material into the wetland coupled with his current 

agricultural activities are not exempted under the CWA.  Bowman excavated the wetland and 

used the dredged spoil to fill the wetland for his wheat field.  Therefore, Bowman will continue 

to be in violation of the CWA as long as the dredged and fill material remain in the wetland.  

IV. WILDLIFE’S CITIZEN SUIT IS NOT BARRED BECAUSE NEW UNION DID 

NOT PROPERLY COMMENCE ITS ACTION AND NEW UNION FAILED TO 

DILIGENTLY PROSECUTE BOWMAN. 

 

Wildlife’s citizen suit may proceed because New Union neither timely commenced its 

action nor diligently prosecuted Bowman.  The CWA authorizes a citizen to file suit “against any 

person . . . who is alleged to be in violation of (A) an effluent standard or limitation under [the 

CWA] or (B) an order issued by the [EPA] or a State with respect to such a standard or 
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limitation.”  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1).
13

  However, section 1365 mandates that a citizen-plaintiff 

can only bring suit against a CWA violator after providing sixty days notice of the violation 

unless the EPA or the state commences action and diligently prosecutes that action.  The courts 

have applied a three-prong test to determine whether a citizen is barred from filing suit against a 

polluter.  First, the state must “commence” an enforcement order against the violator.  McAbee v. 

Fort Payne, 318 F.3d 1248, 1251 (11th Cir. 2003).  Second, the state must “diligently prosecute” 

its action so that the “standard, limitation, or order” upon which the citizen suit is based can be 

complied with.  Piney Run Pres. Ass’n v. Cnty. Comm’rs of Carroll Cnty., Md., 523 F.3d 453, 

456 (4th Cir. 2008).  Finally, the state’s enforcement scheme must be comparable to the federal 

scheme.  McAbee, 318 F.3d at 1252.  

Wildlife’s citizen suit is not barred because New Union never properly commenced its 

action; the settlement between Bowman and New Union is not sufficient for diligent prosecution; 

and New Union did not abide by the federal scheme which, in turn, violated its own comparable 

enforcement scheme.   

  A. Wildlife’s suit is not barred because New Union failed to properly commence 

  state action through its administrative order. 

 

New Union did not properly commence its administrative order; therefore, the order 

never commenced state action.  An administrative action commences at the point when notice 

and public participation become available to the public and all interested parties.  See Friends of 

Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 756 (7th Cir. 

2004).  Before issuing a final administrative order that assesses civil penalties, the state must 

provide public notice of the proposed order and a reasonable opportunity for the public to 
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comment on the order.  33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(4)(A)
14

; see also 28 C.F.R. § 50.7 (2011) 

(establishing the Department of Justice’s policy that, in order to consent to a proposed judgment 

in an action to stop the discharge of pollutants, an opportunity must be afforded to persons who 

are not named parties to the action before the proposed judgment is enforced). 

1. The administrative order between New Union and Bowman does not 

qualify as commencement of state action because it did not provide 

public notice.  

 

State action was not commenced by the settlement between New Union and Bowman 

because it was entered into without giving the public an opportunity to comment.  An 

administrative action can only “commence” once notice and public-participation protections 

become available to all interested parties.  See Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers, 382 F.3d at 756. 

In Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers, the defendant, a metropolitan sewerage district, 

discharged untreated sewage directly into Lake Michigan and its connecting rivers.  Id. at 748.  

Two environmental groups filed notice of their intent to bring a citizen suit against the district, 

but Wisconsin quickly filed suit on the same day.  Id.  When the district moved to dismiss the 

plaintiffs’ suit, the court held that no administrative action commenced in order to bar the suit.  

Id. at 757.  Because the state’s procedures failed to “contemplate public notice and 

participation[,]” the action was insufficient to trigger commencement.  Id. 

Here, New Union also entered into settlement negotiations with Bowman before filing 

suit.  The parties then incorporated their settlement into an administrative order without 

providing the public an opportunity to comment on the order.  Because this order did not provide 

for public notice or comment, it failed to trigger proper commencement. 
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2. The suit filed by New Union was not commenced because it was an 

illusory suit employed solely to bar Wildlife’s citizen suit.  

 

New Union’s August 10th suit is void of enforcement power because it addresses the 

same issues as its previous administrative order with Bowman.  The CWA only authorizes a state 

to bring suit for two reasons:  to restrain a violation or to require compliance.  33 U.S.C. § 

1319(b).  The August 10th suit was not an effort to restrain Bowman’s violations because New 

Union currently purports that he is no longer violating the CWA.  Additionally, New Union was 

not seeking compliance because Bowman already consented to, and is abiding by, New Union’s 

administrative order.  Thus, the August 10th suit was a façade to circumvent the notice 

requirements of an administrative order and to eliminate the chance for citizens to intervene.  If 

New Union’s suit is upheld, it will encourage agencies to escape the public notice requirement 

simply by filing suit after issuing an improper order.  This misuse of the judicial system should 

not be promoted. 

In Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services (TOC), Inc., 890 F. Supp. 

470, 489 (D.S.C. 1995), the district court noted that the unusual haste in which the state settled 

with the violator was suspicious.  Because the state settled with the violator only one day after 

filing suit, the state robbed the citizens of a right to intervene.  Id.  The court stated that public 

participation is paramount to CWA enforcement actions, and its circumvention “triggers a 

heightened scrutiny into the settlement.”  Id. at 490. 

New Union did not properly commence its state action through the settlement and 

subsequent administrative order because these actions did not provide public notice.  New Union 

failed to notify the public and improperly filed suit, thereby circumventing the notice 

requirements, avoiding the citizen suit, and abusing the court system. 
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3. The recent reclassification of citizen suits as nonjurisdictional claims 

lowers the burden for citizens to commence suit.  
 

The reclassification of citizen suits as nonjurisdictional changed the meaning of public 

commencement.  Recently, the Seventh and Fifth Circuits initiated an analytical trend that 

lowered the requirements for citizens to commence suit in light of established state action.  See 

Adkins v. VIM Recycling, Inc., 644 F.3d 483 (7th Cir. 2011); see also La. Envtl. Action Network 

v. City of Baton Rouge, 677 F.3d 737 (5th Cir. 2012).  According to both circuits, citizen suits 

under the CWA are classified as “claims-processing” rules which do not determine subject 

matter jurisdiction.  Adkins, 644 F.3d at 491-92; La. Envtl., 677 F.3d at 746.  The effect of this 

reclassification is that the citizens may regain their right to commence suit once the state stops 

diligently prosecuting its action.  Adkins, 644 F.3d at 492. 

Applying this new analysis, Wildlife’s suit may proceed because New Union’s failure to 

diligently prosecute Bowman restored Wildlife’s right to sue.  Although the State filed suit 

within the sixty-day period in which Wildlife could not legally act, the State’s suit was merely 

illusory; therefore, it cannot override Wildlife’s ongoing action.  Supra, Part III.  Congress 

clearly intended for environmental organizations to be involved in the administrative process.  

This is exemplified by comments of Senator John Chaffee, the author and sponsor of the 1987 

amendments to the CWA:  “a State law must provide for a right to hearing and for public notice 

and participation procedures similar to those set forth in section 309(g).”  1133 Cong. Rec. S737 

(daily ed., Jan. 14, 1987) (quoted in Atl. States Legal Found., Inc. v. Universal Tool & Stamping 

Co., 735 F. Supp. 1404, 1415 (N.D. Ind. 1990)). 

Wildlife had a right to meaningful participation in this suit and New Union’s failure to 

provide proper public notice is adverse to the intent of the CWA.  Additionally, because New 

Union’s enforcement scheme is virtually identical to the federal scheme, New Union’s failure to 
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abide by the public notice requirement of the CWA is effectually a violation of New Union’s 

own statutory scheme. 

B. New Union’s settlement with Bowman did not constitute diligent prosecution 

because the punishment was nominal in comparison to Bowman’s egregious 

violations of the CWA.    

  

New Union’s failure to assess any fines on Bowman coupled with its requirement that 

Bowman only preserve two acres of the wetland and reconstruct one acre is an insufficient 

punishment for destroying nearly one-thousand acres of wetland.  Congress enacted the CWA 

with the express intent to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of 

the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  Among the different ways to achieve this goal is to 

enter injunctions and assess civil penalties against those found in violation of the CWA.  Envtl. 

Conservation Org. v. City of Dall., 529 F.3d 519, 526 (5th Cir. 2008).  Here, New Union’s 

settlement did not constitute a diligent prosecution because it resulted in minimal punishment.   

1. New Union failed to assess any monetary penalties on Bowman, 

despite having the statutory authority to issue fines up to $125,000. 

 

Although New Union had the legal authority to impose fines on Bowman, it failed to do 

so.  In determining whether to assess civil penalties, the agency or the court is required to weigh 

certain factors pertaining to the violator and the violation.  City of Dall., 529 F.3d at 530.  These 

factors include the following:  (1) the seriousness of the violation, (2) the economic benefit 

resulting from the violation, (3) any good-faith efforts to comply with applicable requirements, 

(4) any history of such violations, (5) the economic impact of the penalty on the violator, and (6) 

such other factors as justice requires.  33 U.S.C. § 1319(d).
15

 

The court may determine whether a settlement is sufficient to establish diligent 

prosecution by examining the terms of the settlement.  See Laidlaw, 890 F. Supp. at 490-91 
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(holding that despite having to pay a $100,000 fine, the state’s settlement agreement with the 

violator was not diligent prosecution).  A violator is not diligently prosecuted if the state fails to 

impose penalties that deter the violator, as well as third parties, from committing future CWA 

violations.  See id. at 491 (“A penalty serves as a successful deterrent only if potential violators 

believe they will be worse off by not complying with the applicable requirements.”). 

In Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1194 (10th Cir. 2007), a CWA violator discharged 

pollutants, and dredged and filled wetlands without a permit.  Id. at 1194.  The court found the 

EPA’s settlement with the violator was appropriate because the settlement (1) stopped the 

discharge of pollutants into navigable waters; (2) required the violator to restore the destructed 

wetlands; (3) ordered the violator to comply with terms and conditions of applicable CWA 

permits for future activities; and (4) imposed a civil penalty of $325,000.  See id. at 1194-95. 

In the present case, Bowman destroyed 998 acres of a wetland for the sole purpose of 

converting it into a wheat field, and Bowman stands to profit $250,000 per year from the harvest 

of his new field.  See The Samuel Roberts Noble Foundation, http://www.noble.org/ag/ 

economics/profitinwheat/ (September 2008).
16

  Applying section 1319(d) factors to Bowman’s 

case, justice warrants civil penalties.  Destroying 998 acres of a virgin wetland is a serious 

offense, and Bowman will benefit from the violation.  Bowman has not made any good-faith 

efforts to comply with the CWA as he finished clearing the wetland before New Union entered 

into a settlement with him.  Additionally, Bowman continues to violate the CWA by channeling 

sediment into the Muddy River from his wheat field without a permit.  Finally, a fine of 

$125,000 is small in comparison to the profit Bowman stands to make from the yield of his 
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wheat field in the future. 

2. New Union’s requirement that Bowman preserve a one-acre 

conservation easement and reconstruct only one acre of the wetland is 

an insufficient remedy.  

 

Bowman destroyed 998 acres of the wetland and only left the remaining two acres intact 

because it was “the most difficult to work with a bulldozer.”  Requiring Bowman to reconstruct 

only one acre is a miniscule punishment that will fail to deter him and other future violators from 

destroying the Nation’s wetlands.  Here, the nominal punishment functions like a reward in light 

of the future earnings and financial trade-off of violating the CWA. 

There has been and will continue to be collateral damage not only to the habitat of the 

wetland and river, but also to other wildlife that depend on the consistency and integrity of these 

waters.  When a pollutant is deposited into a water body, it affects the amount of oxygen in the 

water, which in turn affects the ability of the water’s wildlife to flourish.  See The Ramsar 

Convention on Wetlands, http://www.ramsar.org/pdf/info/services_04_e.pdf.
17

  When the 

water’s wildlife cannot flourish, it deters other animals, such as birds, from using the water as 

their food source.  Id. 

Wetlands also play a crucial role in the natural cycling of sediments and nutrients in the 

environment—an attribute that is extremely beneficial to human health and well-being.  Id.  The 

plants that grow in wetlands take up and store nutrients from soil and water.  Id.  In addition to 

“locking up” nutrients in vegetation, wetlands also act as sediment “traps.”  Id.  The capacity of 

wetlands to handle sediments and nutrients is limited; if overloaded, wetlands can suffer 

irreparable damage.  Id.  When water-bodies are artificially enriched, a process called 

                                                           
17

 The Ramsar Convention on Wetlands is an intergovernmental treaty that embodies the 

commitments of its member countries to maintain the ecological character of their wetlands and 

to plan for the sustainable use of all wetlands in their territories. 



35 
 

eutrophication occurs, typically through sewage or fertilizer runoff.  Id.  This causes “algal 

blooms,” or massive growths of algae, that starve other aquatic plants and animals of oxygen and 

light, eventually destroying the original wetland ecosystem.  Id. 

Bowman’s pollution of the river has a chain effect not only on plants and animals 

surrounding the wetlands, but also on all plants and animals that depend on the river remaining 

pollutant-free.  Bowman is using the cleared wetland to grow wheat.  As such, he will be using 

fertilizer and pesticides on the wetland.  Bowman admittedly stated that he will continue to grow 

wheat and drain the property through the manmade drainage ditches, therefore continuing to 

deposit foreign materials into the Muddy River.  Maintaining the wheat field will overload the 

remaining three acres of the wetland that are now required to do the job of a 1,000-acre wetland.  

Because Bowman was not further punished for his violations, nor precluded by New Union from 

using his wetland as a wheat field, he will continue to reap financial benefits while also 

continuing to violate the CWA. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the lower court’s decision.  Wildlife 

has organizational standing because its members have standing in their own right.  Additionally, 

Bowman violated the CWA when he added dredged and fill material to the wetland specifically 

to convert it into a wheat field.  The continued presence of the dredged and fill material coupled 

with Bowman’s maintenance of the wheat field makes his violations of the CWA’s Recapture 

Clause continuous and ongoing.  Finally, the citizen suit may proceed because New Union failed 

to commence and diligently prosecute Bowman before Wildlife commenced this action. 


